
Agenda Packet 
 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
AGENCY 

 
Monday, November 20, 2017 

5:15 p.m. 
 

Created 11/16/2017 12:26 PM 

Page 1 of 23
https://norfolkne.gov/

https://norfolkne.gov/


Notice of Meeting 
Community Development Agency 

 

 The Community Development Agency will meet on Monday, November 20, 

2017 at 5:15 p.m. at the City Council Chambers, 309 N. 5th St., Norfolk, Nebraska. 

 The Agency reserves the right to adjourn into closed session as per Section 

84-1410 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes.  

 An agenda for such meeting, kept continuously current, is available at the 

office of the City Administrator, City of Norfolk, 309 N 5th St, Norfolk, Nebraska, 

during normal business hours. 
 
Elizabeth A. Deck 
Norfolk City Clerk & 
CDA Secretary 
 
Publish (November 17, 2017) 
1 P.O.P. 
 

Page 2 of 23



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

AGENDA 

November 20, 2017 

Call to Order 

1. Call meeting to order  

2. Inform the public about the location of the Open Meeting Act posted in the 
City Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public. 

 

3. Roll Call  

Action Items/Discussion Items 

4. Approve Agenda Motion 

5. Approve the minutes of the October 16, 2017 Agency meeting. Motion 

6. Consideration of acceptance of the Redevelopment Plan for Legacy Bend 
Redevelopment Area of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska and authorization to 
forward to the Planning Commission for recommendation. 

Motion 

 

Page 3 of 23



STAFF MEMORANDUM 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

November 20, 2017 

Call to Order 

1. Call meeting to order  
2. Inform the public about the location of the Open Meeting Act posted in the 

City Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public. 
 

3. Roll Call  
   

Action Items/Discussion Items 

4. Approve Agenda 
 

Motion 

5. Approve the minutes of the October 16, 2017 Agency meeting. Motion 
   

See Enclosure 5. 
 

6. Consideration of acceptance of the Redevelopment Plan for Legacy Bend 
Redevelopment Area of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska and authorization to 
forward to the Planning Commission for recommendation. 

Motion 

   
Staff received a Redevelopment Plan for the Legacy Bend Redevelopment 
Area.  This area is immediately south of the current Meadow Ridge housing 
development and encompasses approximately 80 acres.  This project consists of 
8 phases to be developed over multiple years and is planned to consist of 124 
single family homes on larger lots, 51 single family homes on urban lots, 51 
townhomes, and 224 apartment units.  The first phase is for 24 single family 
homes west of Victory Road in the south portion of the Redevelopment Area.  
  
The Agency is asked to accept the Plan and forward it to the Planning 
Commission for review and recommendation. 
 
See Enclosure 6. 
 
 

Page 4 of 23



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

The Community Development Agency of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, met in the City 
Council Chambers, 309 N 5th Street, Norfolk, Nebraska, on Monday, October 16, 2017, 
beginning at 5:15 p.m.

Chair Josh Moenning called the meeting to order.

Roll call found the following Agency members present:  Shane Clausen, Dave Fauss, Corey 
Granquist, Gary L. Jackson, Jim Lange, Rob Merrill, Thad Murren, Josh Moenning and Dick 
Pfeil. Absent:  None.

City staff members present were City Administrator Andy Colvin, City Attorney Clint Schukei, 
City Clerk Beth Deck, Finance Officer Randy Gates and Interim City Engineer Steve Rames.

Notice of the meeting was given in advance by publication in the Norfolk Daily News, and the 
notice of the meeting was given to the Chair and all members of the Agency prior to the 
meeting.

The Chair presided and the Secretary recorded the proceedings.

The Chair informed the public about the location of the current copy of the Open Meetings Act 
posted in the meeting room and accessible to members of the public.

Agenda

Merrill moved, seconded by Fauss to approve the agenda as printed. Roll call: Ayes:
Clausen, Fauss, Granquist, Jackson, Lange, Merrill, Murren, Moenning and Pfeil.  Nays:  
None.  Absent: None. Motion carried.

Minutes
(October 2, 2017)

Granquist moved, seconded by Lange to approve the minutes of the October 2, 2017 Agency 
meeting as printed. Roll call: Ayes: Clausen, Fauss, Granquist, Jackson, Lange, Merrill, 
Murren, Moenning and Pfeil.  Nays:  None.  Absent: None. Motion carried.

Resolution No. 2017-13
(Ballantyne Buildings Redevelopment Plan)

Merrill moved, seconded by Granquist to adopt Resolution No. 2017-13 approving the 
Ballantyne Buildings Redevelopment Plan and forwarding to City Council for consideration.
City Administrator Andy Colvin provided information to Agency members stating the building 
is being rehabilitated into commercial and residential space.

The Redevelopment Plan included in the agenda packet is for the buildings at 405, 407, 409 and 
411 West Norfolk Avenue. The Plan is to rehabilitate the structures for mixed uses, including 
commercial, residential, retail and office; 405 and 407 West Norfolk Avenue contains three 

Page 1 of 2

10/17/2017file:///S:/Special%20Shares/Minutes%20Index/CDA/OCT16.2017.htm
11/20/2017 Enclosure 5

Page 5 of 23



floors and 409 and 411 West Norfolk Avenue contains two floors. The first floor of each 
building would be converted to commercial office space with four commercial bays created for 
small business and/or retail space. The second and third floors of 405 and 407 West Norfolk 
Avenue would be revamped for commercial space. The second floor of 409 and 411 West 
Norfolk Avenue would be converted to two residential apartments. The properties were 
declared blighted and substandard by the Norfolk City Council on October 4, 2010 and the 
developers plan to use $143,290 of tax increment financing for the project.

Roll call: Ayes: Clausen, Fauss, Granquist, Jackson, Lange, Merrill, Murren, Moenning and 
Pfeil.  Nays:  None.  Absent: None. Motion carried. Resolution No. 2017-13 was adopted.

There being no further business, the Chair declared the meeting adjourned at 5:16 p.m.

_____________________________
Josh Moenning, Chair

ATTEST:

__________________________
Elizabeth A. Deck, Secretary

( S E A L )

Page 2 of 2

10/17/2017file:///S:/Special%20Shares/Minutes%20Index/CDA/OCT16.2017.htm
11/20/2017 Enclosure 5

Page 6 of 23



�
�

�����������	
����	�

������������	�������������	
�������
�


�����
���
�	��
�����	��������
�

��� ��	����������������	
����	�
�

��� ��� !"#$�%!�&
&

'(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&2! &�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&!2&�(+&8%�5&!2&9! 2!-:;&
9+< 1):1&=>*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�?@&%)&1&4#%"+&2! & +"+,+-!./+��&1$�%,%�%+)&#�"+ �1:+�&%�&�(+&3+4A
1$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&�!& +/!,+&! &+-%/%�1�+&<-%4(�&1�"&)#<)�1�"1 "&$!�"%�%!�)&B%�(%�&
�(+&8%�5&!2&9! 2!-:;&9+< 1):1&=�(+&>8%�5?@C&

&
'(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&(1)&<++�&+)�1<-%)(+"&%�&1$$! "1�$+&B%�(&�(+& +D#% +/+��)&!2&�(+&

9+< 1):1&8!//#�%�5&E+,+-!./+��&31B;&9+<C&*+,C&F�1�C&GG&HIA&JHKH&�( !#4(&HIAJHLM;&1)&
1/+�"+"&=�(+&>7$�?@&1�"&�(+&8!/. +(+�)%,+&0-1�&!2&�(+&8%�5C&'(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�;&1)&
1/+�"+"&2 !/&�%/+&�!&�%/+;&)(1--&%�"%$1�+&%�)& +-1�%!�)(%.&�!&"+2%�%�+&-!$1-&!<N+$�%,+)&1)&�!&1.. !A
. %1�+&-1�"&#)+);&%/. !,+"&� 122%$;&.#<-%$&� 1�).! �1�%!�;&.#<-%$&#�%-%�%+);& +$ +1�%!�1-&1�"&$!//#A
�%�5&21$%-%�%+)&1�"&!�(+ &.#<-%$&%/. !,+/+��);&1�"&�(+&. !.!)+"&-1�"&#)+)&1�"&<#%-"%�4& +D#% +A
/+��)&%�&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&1 +1;&1)& +D#% +"&<5&�(+&7$�C&O#�# +&1/+�"/+��)&�!&�(%)&*+"+A
,+-!./+��&0-1�&)(1--&%"+��%25&).+$%2%$& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�)&�(1�&B%--&#)+&�1P&%�$ +/+��&2%�1�$%�4&
.# )#1��&�!&F+$�%!�&HIAJHMQ&!2&�(+&7$�C&

&
R�� F�1�#�! 5&*+D#% +/+��)&

&
'(+&7$�&"+2%�+)&1&> +"+,+-!./+��&.-1�?&1)&>1&.-1�;&1)&%�&+P%)�)&2 !/&�%/+&�!&�%/+&2! &!�+&

! &/! +&$!//#�%�5& +"+,+-!./+��&1 +1);&! &2! &1& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�;&B(%$(&=1@&$!�2! /)&�!&
�(+&4+�+ 1-&.-1�&2! &�(+&/#�%$%.1-%�5&1)&1&B(!-+&1�"&=<@&%)&)#22%$%+��-5&$!/.-+�+&�!&%�"%$1�+&)#$(&
-1�"&1$D#%)%�%!�;&"+/!-%�%!�&1�"& +/!,1-&!2&)� #$�# +);& +"+,+-!./+��;&%/. !,+/+��);&1�"& +(1A
<%-%�1�%!�&1)&/15&<+&. !.!)+"&�!&<+&$1  %+"&!#�&%�&�(+&$!//#�%�5& +"+,+-!./+��&1 +1;&S!�%�4&1�"&
.-1��%�4&$(1�4+);&%2&1�5;&-1�"&#)+);&/1P%/#/&"+�)%�%+);&1�"&<#%-"%�4& +D#% +/+��)C?&9+<C&*+,C&
F�1�C&GHIAJHKT=HT@C&

&
'(+&7$�&2# �(+ &"+2%�+)&�(+& +D#% +"&$!��+��)&!2&1& +"+,+-!./+��&.-1�U&>7& +"+,+-!./+��&

.-1�&)(1--&<+&)#22%$%+��-5&$!/.-+�+&�!&%�"%$1�+&%�)& +-1�%!�)(%.&�!&"+2%�%�+&-!$1-&!<N+$�%,+)&1)&�!&
1.. !. %1�+&-1�"&#)+);&%/. !,+"&� 122%$;&.#<-%$&� 1�).! �1�%!�;&.#<-%$&#�%-%�%+);& +$ +1�%!�1-&1�"&
$!//#�%�5&21$%-%�%+)&1�"&!�(+ &.#<-%$&%/. !,+/+��);&1�"&�(+&. !.!)+"&-1�"&#)+)&1�"&<#%-"%�4& +A
D#% +/+��)&%�&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&1 +1;&1�"&)(1--&%�$-#"+&B%�(!#�&<+%�4&-%/%�+"&�!U&=H@&'(+&
<!#�"1 %+)&!2&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&1 +1;&B%�(&1&/1.&)(!B%�4&�(+&+P%)�%�4&#)+)&1�"&$!�"%�%!�&
!2&�(+& +1-&. !.+ �5&�(+ +%�V&=J@&1&-1�"A#)+&.-1�&)(!B%�4&. !.!)+"&#)+)&!2&�(+&1 +1V&=T@&%�2! /1�%!�&
)(!B%�4&�(+&)�1�"1 ")&!2&.!.#-1�%!�&"+�)%�%+);&-1�"&$!,+ 14+;&1�"&<#%-"%�4&%��+�)%�%+)&%�&�(+&1 +1&
12�+ & +"+,+-!./+��V&=M@&1&)�1�+/+��&!2&�(+&. !.!)+"&$(1�4+);&%2&1�5;&%�&S!�%�4&! "%�1�$+)&! &/1.);&
)� ++�&-15!#�);&)� ++�&-+,+-)&! &4 1"+);&! &<#%-"%�4&$!"+)&1�"&! "%�1�$+)V&=L@&1&)%�+&.-1�&!2&�(+&1 +1V&
1�"&=W@&1&)�1�+/+��&1)&�!&�(+&:%�"&1�"&�#/<+ &!2&1""%�%!�1-&.#<-%$&21$%-%�%+)&! &#�%-%�%+)&B(%$(&B%--&
<+& +D#% +"&�!&)#..! �&�(+&�+B&-1�"&#)+)&%�&�(+&1 +1&12�+ & +"+,+-!./+��C&7�5& +"+,+-!./+��&.-1�&
/15&%�$-#"+&1&. !.!)1-&2! &�(+&"+)%4�1�%!�&!2&1�&+�(1�$+"&+/.-!5/+��&1 +1C?&&9+<C&*+,C&F�1�C&
GHIAJHHHC&

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 7 of 23



�
�

&
'(+&7$�&1-)!&)�1�+)&�(1�&1& +"+,+-!./+��&.-1�&/15&$!��1%�&1&. !,%)%!�&1#�(! %S%�4&�1P&%�A

$ +/+��&2%�1�$%�4C&&9+<C&*+,C&F�1�C&GHIAJHMQC&
&

&&&&&&&&8C& *+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&&&
&
& '(+&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&%)&1&.1 �&!2&�(+&X1)�&9! 2!-:&7,+�#+&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1;&

& B(%$(&B1)&"+$-1 +"&<-%4(�+"&1�"&)#<)�1�"1 "&<5&�(+&8%�5&8!#�$%-&<5&*+)!-#�%!�&9!C&JKHMAHI;
& "1�+"&Y#�+&HW;&JKHM;&1�"&<1)+"&#.!�;&%��+ &1-%1;&1&6-%4(�&1�"&F#<)�1�"1 "&E+�+ /%�1�%!�&F�#"5&
& . +.1 +"&<5&�(+&9! �(+1)�&9+< 1):1&X$!�!/%$&E+,+-!./+��&E%)� %$�&"1�+"&Z15&L;&JKHMC&'(+&
& -+41-&"+)$ %.�%!�&!2&�(+&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&%)&1��1$(+"&(+ +�!&1)&XP(%<%�&>7?&1�"&%�$! .! 1�+"&
& <5&�(%)& +2+ +�$+C&

&
EC� 31�"&[)+&0-1�&

&
&&&&&&&&&&&&'(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&1"!.�)&1�"&%�$! .! 1�+)&�(+&8!/. +(+�)%,+&0-1�&!2&�(+&8%�5&1)&
%�& +-1�+)&�!&�(+&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1;&%�$-#"%�4;&%�&.1 �%$#-1 ;&�(+&>E+,+-!./+��&7 +1&\#%"+-%�+)?&
2! &�(+&9! �(+1)�&8!//#�%�5&8!--+4+&E%)� %$�&%�&B(%$(&�(+&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&%)&-!$1�+"C&&'(+&
>E+,+-!./+��&7 +1&\#%"+-%�+)?&%�"%$1�+&�(1�&�(+&1 +1&:�!B�&1)&3+41$5&6+�"&%)&"+)%4�1�+"&2! &
)%�4-+&21/%-5& +)%"+��%1-&#)+C&&'(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&%)&4+�+ 1--5&$!�)%)�+��&B%�(&�(+&8!/. +A
(+�)%,+&0-1�&%�&�(1�&%�&. !/!�+)&)%�4-+&21/%-5;&�!B�(!/+&1�"&/#-�%A21/%-5& +)%"+��%1-&#)+)&%�&�(+&
1 +1&B+)�&!2&]%$�! 5&*!1"&1�"&)!#�(&!2&6+�N1/%�&7,+C&3+41$5&6+�"&%)&4+�+ 1--5&$!�)%)�+��&%�&�(1�&
�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&1 +1&B%--&%�$-#"+&�!B�(!/+)&1�"&/#-�%A21/%-5& +)%"+��%1-&1-!�4&B%�(&�(+&)%�4-+&
21/%-5& +)%"+��%1-&!2&�(+&8!/. +(+�)%,+&0-1�&"+)%4�1�%!�C&3+41$5&6+�"&1..-%+)&$+ �1%�&4!1-)&2 !/&
�(+&8!/. +(+�)%,+&0-1�&)#$(&1)&1&E+,+-!./+��&\#%"+-%�+&%�&�(+&9X88&E%)� %$�&!2&$!! "%�1�%�4&
#.4 1"+)&�!&�(+&.1 :&1�"& +$ +1�%!�&)5)�+/&B%�(&�+B&"+,+-!./+��&1�"&1-)!&1&4+�+ 1-&4!1-&1�"&
!<N+$�%,+&!2&�(+&8!/. +(+�)%,+&0-1�&�!&>. !/!�+&�(+&"+,+-!./+��&!2&�+%4(<! (!!"&)$1-+&%�)�%�#A
�%!�)&=%C+C&)$(!!-);&.-1$+)&!2&B! )(%.@;&21$%-%�%+)&=%C+C&.1 :);&$!//#�%�5&41 "+�)@&1�"&1/+�%�%+)&
B(+�+,+ &.!))%<-+&�!&)#..! �&%�2! /1-&1�"&2! /1-& +$ +1�%!�&1$�%,%�5C&'(+&/1.&)(!B%�4&�(+&+P%)�A
%�4&#)+)&!2&�(+& +1-&. !.+ �5&%�&1�"&1 !#�"&�(+&8%�5;&%�$-#"%�4&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&
7 +1;&%)&1��1$(+"&(+ +�!&1)&XP(%<%�&>6?&1�"&%�$! .! 1�+"&<5&�(%)& +2+ +�$+C&7&/1.&)(!B%�4&�(+&
2#�# +&#)+)&!2&�(+& +1-&. !.+ �5&%�&1�"&1 !#�"&�(+&8%�5;&%�$-#"%�4&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&
7 +1;&%)&1��1$(+"&(+ +�!&1)&XP(%<%�&>8?&1�"&%�$! .! 1�+"&<5&�(%)& +2+ +�$+C&'(%)&O#�# +&31�"&[)+&
Z1.&$!��1%�+"&%�&�(+&8%�5̂)&8!/. +(+�)%,+&0-1�& +2-+$�)&�(1�&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&
7 +1&)(!#-"&<+&"+,+-!.+"&2! & +)%"+��%1-&#)+C&

&
XC�&&0 !N+$�&F.+$%2%$&*+D#% +/+��)&

&

'(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&)+�)&2! �(&�(+&.(1)+"&%/.-+/+��1�%!�&!2& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�)&
%�&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&�!&!.�%/%S+&�(+&�1P&%�$ +/+��&2%�1�$%�4& +)!# $+)&1,1%-A
1<-+&2! &$!�)� #$�%!�&!2&+-%4%<-+&.#<-%$&%/. !,+/+��)C&7)&+1$(&.(1)+&!2&1& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&
%)&%"+��%2%+";&! &1)&�+B& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�)&1 +&%"+��%2%+";&�(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&)(1--&<+&
1/+�"+"&�!&%�$-#"+;&1�&1&/%�%/#/;&�(+&2!--!B%�4U&=H@&'(+&<!#�"1 %+)&!2&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&
1 +1;&B%�(&1&/1.&)(!B%�4&�(+&+P%)�%�4&#)+)&1�"&$!�"%�%!�&!2&�(+& +1-&. !.+ �5&�(+ +%�V&=J@&1&-1�"A
#)+&.-1�&)(!B%�4&. !.!)+"&#)+)&!2&�(+&1 +1V&=T@&%�2! /1�%!�&)(!B%�4&�(+&)�1�"1 ")&!2&.!.#-1�%!�&
"+�)%�%+);&-1�"&$!,+ 14+;&1�"&<#%-"%�4&%��+�)%�%+)&%�&�(+&1 +1&12�+ & +"+,+-!./+��&%2& +-+,1��V&=M@&1&
)�1�+/+��&!2&�(+&. !.!)+"&$(1�4+);&%2&1�5;&%�&S!�%�4&! "%�1�$+)&! &/1.);&)� ++�&-15!#�);&)� ++�&-+,+-)&

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 8 of 23



�
�

! &4 1"+);&! &<#%-"%�4&$!"+)&1�"&! "%�1�$+)V&=L@&1&)%�+&.-1�&!2&�(+&1 +1V&1�"&=W@&1&)�1�+/+��&1)&�!&
�(+&:%�"&1�"&�#/<+ &!2&1""%�%!�1-&.#<-%$&21$%-%�%+)&! &#�%-%�%+)&B(%$(&B%--&<+& +D#% +"&�!&)#..! �&�(+&
�+B&-1�"&#)+)&%�&�(+&1 +1&12�+ & +"+,+-!./+��C&

&
'(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&%"+��%2%+)&!�+&=H@& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&B%�(&/#-�%.-+&.(1)+)&

�(1�&B%--&!$$# &%�&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1;&1�"&"+)$ %<+)&�(+&2% )�&.(1)+&!2&�(+& +"+A
,+-!./+��&. !N+$�C&7)&)�1�+"&1<!,+;&)#<)+D#+��&.(1)+)&!2&+1$(&)#$(& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&)(1--&
<+&%"+��%2%+"&%�&1/+�"/+��)&�!&�(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�V&. !,%"+";&(!B+,+ ;&�(1�&�!&�(+&+P�+��&�(1�&
�(+&.(1)+A).+$%2%$&%�2! /1�%!�& +D#% +"&<5&�(+&7$�&(1)&<++�&%�$-#"+"&%�&�(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�;&
1�&1/+�"/+��&�!&�(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&/15&�!�&<+& +D#% +"&<5&-1BC&

&
OC�'1P&��$ +/+��&O%�1�$%�4&

&
'(+&8%�5&1�"&�(+&8E7&$!��+/.-1�+&�(+&#)+&!2&�1P&%�$ +/+��&2%�1�$%�4&=>'�O?@&2! & +"+,+-A

!./+��&. !N+$�)&%"+��%2%+"&%�&�(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�;&1)&1/+�"+"&2 !/&�%/+&�!&�%/+C&'�O&%)&1#A
�(! %S+"&#�"+ &)+$�%!�&HIAJHMQ&!2&�(+&7$�;&B(%$(&)�1�+)&�(1�&1�5&1"&,1-! +/&�1P&-+,%+"&#.!�& +1-&
. !.+ �5;&! &1�5&.! �%!�&�(+ +!2;&%�&1& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&)(1--&<+&"%,%"+";&2! &1&.+ %!"&�!�&�!&
+P$++"&2%2�++�&5+1 )&12�+ &�(+&+22+$�%,+&"1�+&1)&%"+��%2%+"&%�&�(+&. !N+$�& +"+,+-!./+��&$!�� 1$�&! &
%�&�(+& +)!-#�%!�&!2&�(+&1#�(! %�5&1#�(! %S%�4&�(+&%))#1�$+&!2&<!�")&.# )#1��&�!&�(+&7$�;&1)&2!--!B)U&

&
_̀a� '(1�&.! �%!�&!2&�(+&1"&,1-! +/&�1P&B(%$(&%)&. !"#$+"&<5&�(+&-+,5&1�&�(+& 1�+&2%P+"&

+1$(&5+1 &<5&! &2! &+1$(&.#<-%$&<!"5&#.!�&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&,1-#1�%!�&)(1--&
<+&.1%"&%��!&�(+&2#�")&!2&+1$(&)#$(&.#<-%$&<!"5&%�&�(+&)1/+&. !.! �%!�&1)&1 +&1--&!�(+ &
�1P+)&$!--+$�+"&<5&! &2! &�(+&<!"5&=>61)+&'1P&7/!#��?@V&1�"&

&

_ba� '(1�&.! �%!�&!2&�(+&1"&,1-! +/&�1P&!�& +1-&. !.+ �5;&1)&. !,%"+"&%�&�(+& +"+,+-!.A
/+��&$!�� 1$�&! &<!�"& +)!-#�%!�;&%�&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&%�&+P$+))&!2&�(+&61)+&
'1P&7/!#��;&%2&1�5;&= +2+  +"&�!&1)&�(+&>��$ +/+��1-&'1P&7/!#��?@&)(1--&<+&1--!A
$1�+"&�!&1�";&B(+�&$!--+$�+";&.1%"&%��!&1&).+$%1-&2#�"&!2&�(+&1#�(! %�5&�!&<+&#)+"&
)!-+-5&�!&.15&�(+&. %�$%.1-&!2;&�(+&%��+ +)�&!�;&1�"&1�5&. +/%#/)&"#+&%�&$!��+$�%!�&
B%�(&�(+&<!�")&!2;&-!1�);&�!�+);&! &1",1�$+)&!2&/!�+5&�!;&! &%�"+<�+"�+))&%�$#  +"&
<5;&B(+�(+ &2#�"+";& +2#�"+";&1))#/+";&! &!�(+ B%)+;&)#$(&1#�(! %�5&2! &2%�1�$%�4&
! & +2%�1�$%�4;&%�&B(!-+&! &%�&.1 �;&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�C&

&
O! &1�5& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&! &.(1)+&�(+ +!2&%�&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&

�(1�&B%--&#�%-%S+&'�O;&�(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&)(1--&<+&1/+�"+"&�!&%"+��%25&�(+&'�O&. !N+$�&! &.(1)+&
1�"&)(1--&. !,%"+&)#22%$%+��&%�2! /1�%!�&�!&)#..! �&1&"+�+ /%�1�%!�&�(1�U&=%@&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&
. !N+$�&1)&"+)%4�+"&B!#-"&�!�&<+&+$!�!/%$1--5&2+1)%<-+&B%�(!#�&�(+&#)+&!2&'�OV&=%%@&�(+& +"+,+-!.A
/+��&. !N+$�&1)&"+)%4�+"&B!#-"&�!�&!$$# &%�&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&B%�(!#�&�(+&
#)+&!2&'�OV&1�"&=%%%@&�(+&$!)�)&1�"&<+�+2%�)&!2&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&. !N+$�&1 +&%�&�(+&-!�4A�+ /&<+)�&
%��+ +)�&!2&�(+&8%�5C&

&
'(+&1$�#1-&<1)+&�1P&5+1 &2! &+1$(&.(1)+&=�(+&+22+$�%,+&"1�+@&B%--&<+&"+�+ /%�+"&%�&�(+&/1�A

�+ &�(1�&B%--&<+&)+�&2! �(&%�&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&$!�� 1$�&1�"c! &�(+& +)!-#�%!�&1#�(! %S%�4&�(+&'�O&
<!�"=)@C&��&%)&1��%$%.1�+"&�(1�&�(+&+22+$�%,+&"1�+)&B%--&<+&"%22+ +��&2! &+1$(&!2&�(+&.(1)+)V&1�"&�(+ +A
2! +&�(+&%�$ +/+��&.+ %!"&2! &+1$(&.(1)+&�(+ +!2&B%--&<+&"%22+ +��C&&&

&

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 9 of 23



�
�

&
\C�8!�$-#)%!�&

&
'(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&%)&%�&�++"&!2& +"+,+-!./+��&�!& +/!,+&<-%4(�&1�"&

)#<)�1�"1 "&$!�"%�%!�)&%�&! "+ &�!&. !/!�+&! "+ -5&1�"&.-1��+"&4 !B�(&!2&�(+&$!//#�%�5C&'(%)&
*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�;&1)&1/+�"+"&2 !/&�%/+&�!&�%/+;&)(1--&4#%"+&1�"&1))%)�&�(+&8!//#�%�5&E+,+-A
!./+��&74+�$5&!2&�(+&8%�5&!2&9! 2!-:&1�"&�(+&8%�5&%�)+-2&%�&�(+% &+22! �)&�!&2!)�+ &1�"&21$%-%�1�+&
 +"+,+-!./+��&1$�%,%�%+)&.# )#1��&�!&�(+&9+< 1):1&8!//#�%�5&E+,+-!./+��&31BC&

&
� �� ������������	�������������	
����d��
�
�

7C�'(+&0 !N+$�&F%�+&

&
'(+&.# .!)+&!2&�(%)&7 �%$-+&��&!2&�(+&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&%)&�!&%"+��%25&1&).+$%2%$&. !N+$�&

B%�(%�&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&�(1�&B%--&$1#)+&�(+& +/!,1-&!2&<-%4(�&1�"&)#<)�1�"1 "&
$!�"%�%!�)&!�&�(+&)%�+&-!$1�+"&%�&�(+&8%�5&!2&9! 2!-:;&9+< 1):1;&1�"&"+)$ %<+"&!�&�(+&1��1$(+"&1�"&
%�$! .! 1�+"&XP(%<%�&>E?&=�(+&>3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+?@C&

&
'(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&%)&%�&�++"&!2& +"+,+-!./+��C&'(+&8E7&(1)&$!�)%"+ +"&

B(+�(+ & +"+,+-!./+��&!2&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+;&1�"&).+$%2%$1--5;&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+A
,+-!./+��&0 !N+$�&=�(+&>0 !N+$�?@;&B%--&$!�2! /&�!&�(+&\+�+ 1-&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&)+�&2! �(&%�&
7 �%$-+&�;&1�"&�(+&$!! "%�1�+";&1"N#)�+";&1�"&(1 /!�%!#)&"+,+-!./+��&!2&�(+&8%�5&1�"&%�)&+�,% !�)C&
'(+&8E7&2%�")&�(1�&)#$(& +"+,+-!./+��&!2&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&B%--&. !/!�+&�(+&(+1-�(;&
)12+�5;&/! 1-);&! "+ ;&$!�,+�%+�$+;&. !).+ %�5;&1�"&�(+&4+�+ 1-&B+-21 +&!2&�(+&$!//#�%�5&%�$-#"A
%�4;&1/!�4&!�(+ &�(%�4);&�(+&. !/!�%!�&!2&)12+�5&2 !/&2% +;&�(+&. !/!�%!�&!2&�(+&(+1-�(2#-&1�"&
$!�,+�%+��&"%)� %<#�%!�&!2&.!.#-1�%!�;&�(+&. !/!�%!�&!2&)!#�"&"+)%4�&1�"&1  1�4+/+��;&�(+&B%)+&
1�"&+22%$%+��&+P.+�"%�# +&!2&.#<-%$&2#�");&1�"&�(+&. +,+��%!�&!2&�(+& +$#  +�$+&!2&#�)1�%�1 5&1�"&
#�)12+&"B+--%�4&1$$!//!"1�%!�)&! &$!�"%�%!�)&!2&<-%4(�C&

&
'(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&4+�+ 1--5&$!�)%)�)&!2&,1$1��;&#�"+ "+,+-!.+"&-1�"&-!$1�+"&%�&

�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1C&'(+&<-%4(�+"&$!�"%�%!�&!2&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&
1�"&�(+&-1$:&!2&1"+D#1�+&#�%-%�%+)&1�"&%�2 1)� #$�# +&�!&)+ ,+&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&$!�� %<#�+&
�!&%�)&%�1<%-%�5&�!&1�� 1$�&"+,+-!./+��C&'(+&3!$1�%!�&!2&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&F%�+&%)&1�� 1$�%,+&2! &/%P+"A
#)+&"+,+-!./+��&!2&)%�4-+&21/%-5& +)%"+��%1-&1�"&/#-�%.-+&"B+--%�4&#�%�)C&&e!B+,+ ;&�(+&%�%�%1-&
#.2 !��&$!)�)&1))!$%1�+"&B%�(&�+$+))1 5&%�2 1)� #$�# +&/1:+)&"+,+-!./+��&!2&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&
0 !N+$�&F%�+&�!�&2+1)%<-+C&&'(+& +"+,+-!./+��&!2&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&.# )#1��&�!&�(%)&
7 �%$-+&��&!2&�(+&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&B%--&%�$-#"+&+-%4%<-+&+P.+�"%�# +)&#�"+ &�(+&7$�&1�"&B%--&
2# �(+ &�(+&.# .!)+)&!2&�(+&7$�&%�&$!�2! /1�$+&B%�(&�(+&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�C&

&
6C�E+)$ %.�%!�&!2&0 !N+$�&&

&
e96&0 !.+ �%+);&338&=�(+&>*+"+,+-!.+ ?@&. !.!)+)&�!& +"+,+-!.&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&

F%�+&%��!& +)%"+��%1-&#)+);&1)&"+.%$�+"&!�&�(+&. !.!)+"&)%�+&.-1�&2! &�(+&0 !N+$�&1��1$(+"&(+ +�!&1)&
XP(%<%�&>X?C&

&
7)& +2-+$�+"&!�&�(+&)%�+&.-1�;&�(+&*+"+,+-!.+ &%��+�")&�!&)#<"%,%"+&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&

F%�+C&&'(+&0 !N+$�&F%�+&$!�)%)�)&!2&1.. !P%/1�+-5&IK&1$ +)C&&��&B%--&$!�)%)�&!2&1�&IA.(1)+&. !N+$�&

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 10 of 23



�
�

!,+ &/#-�%.-+&5+1 )C&&'(+&1 +1&B%--&$!�)%)�&!2U&HJM&F%�4-+&O1/%-5&e!/+)&!�&31 4+ &3!�);&LH&F%�4-+&
O1/%-5&e!/+)&!�&[ <1�&3!�);&LH&'!B�(!/+);&1�"&JJM&3%,%�4&[�%�)&%�&Z#-�%.-+&EB+--%�4&[�%�)C&

&
'(+&*+"+,+-!.+ &B%--&.15&�(+&$!)�)&!2&�(+&. %,1�+&%/. !,+/+��);&%�$-#"%�4&�(+&$!�)� #$�%!�&

!2&�(+& +)%"+��%1-&<#%-"%�4)&1�"&1))!$%1�+"&%/. !,+/+��)C&'(+&8E7&! &8%�5&B%--&.15&2! &.#<-%$&
%/. !,+/+��)&%�$-#"%�4;&<#�&�!�&-%/%�+"&�!U&&.1,%�4;&)1�%�1 5&)+B+ ;&)�! /&)+B+ &1�"&B1�+ C&&7)&
.1 �&!2&�(+&. !N+$�;&�(+&$%�5&B%--&2! /&).+$%1-&1))+))/+��&"%)� %$�)&�!& +$1.�# +&�(+% &1))!$%1�+"&$!)�);&
1�"&*+"+,+-!.+ &B%--&$1.�# +&1,1%-1<-+&�1P&%�$ +/+��& +,+�#+)&4+�+ 1�+"&<5&�(+& +"+,+-!./+��&!2&
�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&�!&1))%)�&%�&.15%�4&2! &. %,1�+&%/. !,+/+��);&1))+))/+��);&).+$%1-&
1))+))/+��);&2++);&-1�"&1$D#%)%�%!�&1�"&!�(+ &+P.+�)+)&�(1�&1 +&-%)�+"&1)&+-%4%<-+&+P.+�"%�# +)&#�"+ &
�(+&7$�C&&'(+&).+$%2%$&.#<-%$&%/. !,+/+��)&2! &B(%$(&�(+&1,1%-1<-+&�1P&%�$ +/+��& +,+�#+)&4+�+ A
1�+"&<5&�(+&0 !N+$�&B%--&<+&#)+"&B%--&<+&"+)$ %<+"&%�&/! +&"+�1%-&%�&�(+&*+"+,+-!./+��&74 ++/+��&
2! &+1$(&.(1)+&!2&�(+&0 !N+$�C&

&

'(+& +"+,+-!./+��&!2&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&.# )#1��&�!&�(%)&7 �%$-+&��&!2&�(+&*+"+A
,+-!./+��&0-1�&B%--&+-%/%�1�+&�(+&<-%4(�&1�"&)#<)�1�"1 "&$!�"%�%!�)&!�&�(+&0 !N+$�&F%�+&1�"&B%--&
2# �(+ &�(+&.# .!)+)&!2&�(+&7$�&%�&$!�2! /%�5&B%�(&�(+&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�C&

&
8C��/.-+/+��1�%!�&!2&0 !N+$�&

&
7)&"+)$ %<+"&1<!,+;&�(+&*+"+,+-!.+ &B%--&$!/.-+�+&�(+&0 !N+$�&%�&.(1)+)&!,+ &/#-�%.-+&

5+1 );&�(+&�%/%�4&!2&B(%$(&B%--&<+&�%+"&�!&$!�)� #$�%!�&!2&�(+&<#%-"%�4)&1�"&!�(+ &21$�! )C&'(+&.(1)+"&
1.. !1$(&�!&$!�)� #$�%!�&!2&�(+&0 !N+$�&B%--&1--!B&�(+&*+"+,+-!.+ &�!&!.�%/%S+&�(+&�1P&%�$ +/+��&
2%�1�$%�4& +)!# $+)&1,1%-1<-+&2! &$!�)� #$�%!�&!2&+-%4%<-+&.#<-%$&%/. !,+/+��);&1�"&�!&$!�)� #$�&
�(+&. %,1�+&%/. !,+/+��)&1�&1& 1�+&�(+&/1 :+�&$1�&)#..! �C&'(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&B%--&<+&
 +.-1��+"&�!&%"+��%25&�(+&).+$%2%$&. !.+ �5&�(1�&B%--&<+&%�$-#"+"&%�&+1$(&.(1)+;&1�"&+1$(&.(1)+&!2&
�(+&0 !N+$�&%)&%��+�"+"&�!&%�$-#"+&1--&.#<-%$& %4(�)&!2&B15&1�"&.#<-%$&1 +1)&$!��1%�+"&B%�(%�&�(+&
3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+C&

&
'(+&2% )�&.(1)+&!2&�(+&0 !N+$�&%)&%"+��%2%+"&<+-!BC&'(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&)(1--&<+&

1/+�"+"&�!&%"+��%25&+1$(&)#<)+D#+��&.(1)+&!2&�(+&0 !N+$�C&O# �(+ ;&+1$(&.(1)+&!2&�(+&0 !N+$�&B%--&
<+&4!,+ �+"&<5&1&)+.1 1�+&*+"+,+-!./+��&74 ++/+��&<+�B++�&�(+&*+"+,+-!.+ &1�"&�(+&8E7&
B(%$(&B%--&"+)$ %<+&�(+&. %,1�+&%/. !,+/+��)&1�"&�(+&.#<-%$&%/. !,+/+��)&�!&<+&$!�)� #$�+"&<5&
�(+&*+"+,+-!.+ &1)&1&.1 �&!2&)#$(&.(1)+C&

&
EC�0(1)+&�&

&
'(+&2% )�&.(1)+&!2&�(+&0 !N+$�&=>0(1)+&�?@&)(1--&%�$-#"+&�(+&-!�)&%"+��%2%+"&!�&�(+&)%�+&.-1�&

2! &�(+&0 !N+$�&1)&3+41$5&6+�"&=�(+&>0(1)+&�&0 !N+$�&F%�+?@C&'(+&0(1)+&�&0 !N+$�&F%�+&%)&-!$1�+"&%�&
�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&1�"&B%�(%�&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+C&'(+&. %,1�+&%/A
. !,+/+��)&2! &0(1)+&�&B%--&$!�)%)�&!2&$!�)� #$�%!�&!2&JQ&)%�4-+&21/%-5&(!/+)C&'(+&.#<-%$&%/A
. !,+/+��)&�!&<+&$!�)� #$�+"&1)&.1 �&!2&0(1)+&�&B%--&%�$-#"+&%�)�1--1�%!�&!2&)� ++�)&1�"&)%"+B1-:);&
-1�")$1.%�4;&(1 ")$1.%�4&1�"&)� ++�)$1.%�4;&$!��+$�%!�&�!&]%$�! 5&*!1";&1�"&+P�+�)%!�&!2&.#<-%$&
#�%-%�%+);&1--&1)&�+$+))1 5&�!&)+ ,+&�(+&. %,1�+&%/. !,+/+��)C&'(+&8!)�A6+�+2%�&7�1-5)%)&2! &0(1)+&
�&!2&�(+&0 !N+$�&)(1--&<+&1��1$(+"&�!&�(%)&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�&1)&XP(%<%�&>O?C&&

&

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 11 of 23



�
�

'(+& +"+,+-!./+��&!2&�(+&0(1)+&�&0 !N+$�&F%�+&.# )#1��&�!&0(1)+&�&!2&�(+&0 !N+$�&B%--&+-%/A
%�1�+&�(+&$#  +��&<-%4(�&1�"&)#<)�1�"1 "&$!�"%�%!�)&!�&�(+&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&1�"&B%--&2# �(+ &
�(+&.# .!)+)&!2&�(+&7$�&%�&$!�2! /%�5&B%�(&�(+&*+"+,+-!./+��&0-1�C&'(+&0 !N+$�&%)&�!�&2+1)%<-+&
B%�(!#�&�(+&#)+&!2&'�O&�!&1))%)�&B%�(&�(+&$!)�)&!2&�(+&.#<-%$&%/. !,+/+��)C&E#+&�!&�(+&)$!.+&!2&�(+&
0 !N+$�&1�"&�(+&$!)�)&!2&�(+&.#<-%$&%/. !,+/+��)&%�$-#"+"&%�&0(1)+&�;&%�&%)&+P. +))-5&1$:�!B-+"4+"&
�(1�&�(+&*+"+,+-!.+ &B!#-"&�!�&#�"+ �1:+&0(1)+&�&B%�(!#�&�(+&1��%$%.1�+"&#)+&!2&�1P&%�$ +/+��&
2%�1�$%�4&2! &)#<)+D#+��&.(1)+)&!2&�(+&0 !N+$�C&

&
XC�F�1�#�! 5&X-+/+��)&

&
7)&"+)$ %<+"&1<!,+;&�(+&0 !N+$�&+�,%)%!�)&�(+&$1.�# +&!2&�(+&%�$ +/+��1-&�1P+)&4+�+ 1�+"&

<5&�(+&0 !N+$�&!�&�(+&0 !N+$�&F%�+&�!&.15&2! &+-%4%<-+&+P.+�"%�# +)&#�"+ &�(+&7$�C&7��1$(+"&1)&XP(%<%�&
>\?&1�"&%�$! .! 1�+"&(+ +%�&<5&�(%)& +2+ +�$+&%)&1&$!�)%"+ 1�%!�&!2&�(+&)�1�#�! 5&+-+/+��)&#�"+ &
�(+&7$�C&

&
&

XP(%<%�)U&
&
&
>7?&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&7 +1&
>6?&f&XP%)�%�4&31�"&[)+&
>8?&f&O#�# +&31�"&[)+&
>E?&f&3+41$5&6+�"&0 !N+$�&F%�+&
>X?&f&F%�+&0-1�&>O?&A&8!)�A6+�+2%�&7�1-5)%)&2! &0(1)+&�&=3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&0 !N+$�@&&
>\?&f&F�1�#�! 5&X-+/+��)&f&3+41$5&6+�"&*+"+,+-!./+��&0 !N+$�&
&

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 12 of 23



����������	�����
�����
����������

�����
��������

��������������������������� ��������!����"��!������#$%�����"��������&���'(�!����
�%)�*���&�"!� ��&���'(��+���%,������!*����-�������#��&�"������!��.�!� /0/*����'����
������1*�0���"�����+��'*������"1�*�����0���� �����+����'���"��������"������&"2�

��00�����-�����!��"�+�!&�"����������������#*�0����&����-�� !�"��)(#"����������*�
�!�������"����'�����-��!��"�+�!���������"��������#������"�+�!����'�����������"����
����#3��!���������!��"����'*�����-���"�+�!��"����'���������"��������#*�����!��
"�+�!��"������������"��������#�"���� �������"������-���"�+�!&�"����'�����������
����)*�0����&����-�� !�"��#(#"����������3��!�����"�+�!��"����'*�����-���
"�+�!&�"����'���������"��������)*�����!��"�+�!&�"������������"��������)3��!�����
��"����'*�����-�"����"�+�!���������"��������)*�����!��"�+�!��"������������"��������)�
"���� �������"������-�����!��&�"����-!�����&�'���������0�����"!�����3��!�����
"�+�!*�����-�"����&�"����-!�����&�'�����*�����!��"�+�!&�"������������0����&�
���-�� !�"��%(#"����������*��!�������"����'*�����-���"�+�!�������������1�,*�0����&�
���-�� !�"��%(#"����������*������"�+�!���'���������������)�*�����1�,3��!�����
"�+�!��"����'*�����-���"�+�!���'�������������1�,*�0����&����-�� !�"��%(#"��
��������*�������"�+�!���'�������������1�%*�0����&����-�� !�"��,(#"����������*�����!��
"�+�!&�"����������������%�*�����1�%*�0����&����-�� !�"��,(#"����������3��!�����
��"����'*�����-��!��"�+�!���������"��������1�%*�����!��"�+�!��"����������������)�*�
����1�%�"���� �������"������-�����!��&�"��������������%*�����1�4*�0����&����-��
 !�"��#(,�!���������3��!�����"�+�!���'*�����-��!��&�"��������������1�4*�0����&�
���-�� !�"��#(,�!������������������-��!��&�"��������������1�%*�0����&����-�� !�"��
%(%�����������*�����!��"�+�!&�"����������������)*�����1�%*�0����&����-�� !�"��%(%���
��������3��!�������"����'*�����-��!��"�+�!�������������1"�%�����)*�0����&����-��
 !�"��%(%�����������������!��"�+�!�������������1�%�0����&����-�� !�"��%()���
��������*�����!��"�+�!��"����������������)*�����1�%*�0����&����-�� !�"��%()���
���������"���� �������"������-�����!��&�"����-!�����&�'���������5�����'�����3�
�!�����"�+�!���'*�����-�"����&�"����-!�����&�'�����*�����!��"�+�!��"��������������
���������������&�����'��!�����'����������1�"+�5�'���0���!�%,*�%6#4��'�7���7/�
�����"�*��/"/�8.)6�"���� ���������-�,%/%9������&�"������!��"�+�!��"�������������!��
����!��"��:+����������!��"�+�!��"��:+�����3��!�����&�"����'*�����-��!��"�+�!�
��������"�����������������*�����!��"�+�!&�"������������"�����������������*�"����
 �������"������-�����!����"����-!�����&�'����������� +��������������������!�����3�
�!���������!&�"����'*�����-�"������"����-!�����&�'�����*�����!�������"����������
"�������������������!�����������!��&�"�����������!����"��!�������"�������%)3�
�!���������!*�����-�"����&�"�����������!����"��!��������!�� ����������-�����-/�

"�����������������"�������+��������������,*##;*#4#�":+������������;,/4.�����"*�0����
�����""/�

�<=�>���?�@

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 13 of 23



£̄¤275

£̄¤275

£̄¤81

£̄¤81

ª̈35

ª̈24

Comprehensive Plan
City of Norfolk

Existing Land Use

Source: Olsson Associates

0 0.9 1.80.45
Miles

0 4,900 9,8002,450
Feet

¯

1 inch = 4,000 feet

Legend
Existing Land Use Categories

# # # # # # #

# # # # # # #

# # # # # # #

# # # # # # # Rural Residential
Single Family Residential
Townhomes (2/4 Plex)
Multi-Family Residential
Mobile Home Residential
Automotive Commercial
General Commercial
Mixed Use/Downtown
Office/Services
Industrial
Public/Civic Use
Parks & Recreation
Golf Course
Agricultural
Vacant

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

! Surface Water

Reference Items
Administrative Bounds

City Limits
ETJ

Transportation Network
US Highway
State Highway
Local Road
Railroad

Drainage System
Rivers/Streams
Creeks/Wash

Figure 37

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6

Exhibit "B" - Existing Land Use

Page 14 of 23



£̄¤275

£̄¤275

£̄¤81

£̄¤81

ª̈35

ª̈24

Comprehensive Plan
City of Norfolk

Future Land Use

Source: Olsson Associates

0 0.9 1.80.45
Miles

0 4,900 9,8002,450
Feet

¯

1 inch = 4,000 feet

Future Land Uses
!

!

! Agricultural

# # #

# # # Rural Residential

Single Family Residential

Townhomes

# # #

# # #

Multi Family Residential

Mixed Use

Commercial

Offices/Services

CM CM CM

CM CM CM Mixed Commerce

Industrial

Public

P P P P
P P P P
P P P P Parks & Recreation

!

!

! !

!

!

!

!!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
! Elkhorn River Corridor

!

!

!!!

!
!!

!
!
! !

!!

!
! !

!
!

!
!

! !

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

Surface Water

Residential Reserve

Commercial Reserve

CM CM CM

CM CM CM Mixed Commerce Reserve

Industrial Reserve

City Wellhead

Water

North Fork Elkhorn River
Corridor

Reference Items
Administrative Bounds

City Limits

ETJ

Transportation Network
US Highway

State Highway

Local Road

Railroad

Drainage System
Rivers/Streams

Creeks/Wash

Figure 46

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6

Exhibit "C" - Future Land Use

Page 15 of 23



Future Land Use Narrative

The Legacy Bend Project Is a multi-year multi- phase project:

The first phase Is projected to begin In 2018, It will consist of 27 single family homes that will
require about 1 milliondollars of infrastructure. The value of the completed project will
approach 7 million dollars.

The second phase will consist of 28 homes, 12 townhouses, and 24 multi dwelling units.
Completed value projections about 11 million with 1.2 million In Infrastructure.

The third phase will consist of 35 homes and 32 multi dwelling units. Completed value
projections about 11 million with 1.3 million In Infrastructure.

The fourth phase will consist of 18 homes and 32 multi dwelling units. Completed value
projections about 7 million with .7 million In infrastructure.

The fifth phase will consist of 26 homes and 32 multi dwelling units. Completed value
projections about 9 million with 1 million in Infrastructure.

The sixth phase will consist of 17 homes and 64 multi dwelling units. Completed value
projections about 11 million with .9 million In infrastructure.

The seventh phase will consist of 11 homes and 40 multi dwelling units. Completed value
projections about 7 million with .6 million in Infrastructure.

The eighth phase will consist of 13 homes and 39 townhouses. Completed value projections
about 10 million with 1 million In Infrastructure.

The total estimated value of the project will be 73 million dollars with about 7.7 million dollars of
infrastructure.

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 16 of 23

Future Land Use Narrative 

The Legacy Bend Project Is a multi·year multi- phase project: 

The first phase Is projected to begin In 2018, it will consist of 27 single family homes that will 
require about 1 million qollars of infrastructure. The value of the completed project will 
approach 7 million dollars. 

The second phase will consist of 28 homes, 12 townhouses, and 24 multi dwelling units. 
Completed value projections about 11 million with 1.2 million in Infrastructure. 

The third phase will consist of 35 homes and 32 multi dwelling units. Completed value 
projections about 11 million with 1.3 million In Infrastructure. 

The fourth phase will consist of 18 homes and 32 multi dwelling units. Completed value 
projections about 7 million with .7 million In Infrastructure. 

The fifth phase will consist of 26 homes and 32 multi dwelling units. Completed value 
projections about 9 million with 1 million In Infrastructure. 

The sixth phase will consist of 17 homes and 64 multi dwelling units. Completed value 
projections about 11 million with .9 million in Infrastructure. 

The seventh phase will consist of 11 homes and 40 multi dwelling units. Completed value 
projections about 7 million with .6 million in infrastructure. 

The eighth phase will consist of 13 homes and 39 townhouses. Completed value projections 
about 10 million with 1 million In infrastructure. 

The total estimated value of the project will be 73 million dollars with about 7.7 million dollars of 
infrastructure. 



������������	�
����
��
���

��������������
�������
������������������������������� �������������!���"#������
��$ %���!�������!���"#��&����' ������%����(�������� �!�����������)����*+*%����"����
������,%�+�
�������&��"%���-���,�%���
�+����������&����"�
�����-�
���������!�.�

��++�����(�������������/&�������������������������$0��������!������"��������
��������������������!������(������!�"���������1�����"����
���
�������������������
��������������&�������/&�����%����
�������-���(��������������-�(�����(0��������
��&�����"%�����(�����!������(������!�"���������1�����"����
%���
�����������))�*$'�
����������������������������������������������
��!��
�-"��������"����������,�
�&�1�"�
�+������'%��2�3�-"�4���4*���
����%��*�*�5)$20��������!������"%�����(�����
�����������������
�������������
%���
�����������'66*�$�����0�������������!������"���

�����������32$*2'�����0��������������������"���
�������������7*')��������������������
�&�1��&��0��������������������"�������2)3��������
�&���&�1�����������(�����

�����������3'8*2������0���������������"��$$*7$����������������������-�(�����(*�

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6

          Exhibit "D"
Legacy Bend Project Site

Page 17 of 23



w
w

w
.o

ls
so

na
ss

oc
ia

te
s.

co
m

TE
L 

 3
08

.3
84

.8
75

0
FA

X
  3

08
.3

84
.8

75
2

P
.O

. B
ox

 1
07

2
G

ra
nd

 Is
la

nd
, N

E
 6

88
02

-1
07

2

20
1 

E
as

t 2
nd

 S
tre

et

project no.:

approved by:
checked by:
drawn by:

drawing no.:

QA/QC by:

date:

N
O

.
R

E
V

.
D

A
TE

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S
 D

E
S

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

SHEET

R

H
N

B
 N

O
R

FO
LK

 M
E

A
D

O
W

R
ID

G
E

N
O

R
FO

LK
, N

E
B

R
A

S
K

A
20

17

1

PHASE 1 PHASE 2 PHASE 3

PHASE 3

PHASE 2

PHASE 1

PHASE 4

PHASE 5

PHASE 6

PHASE 7

PHASE 8

PHASE 4 PHASE 5

PHASE 6 PHASE 7 PHASE 8

VICTORY ROAD

MCINTOSH ROAD

JONATHON CIRCLE

S
Y

C
A

M
O

R
E

 S
TR

E
E

T

LA
R

A
Y

N
E

 L
A

N
E

JA
N

E
T 

LA
N

E

H
E

A
TH

E
R

 L
A

N
E

B
LU

E
 S

TE
M

 C
IR

C
LE

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6

Exhibit "E" -Site Plan

Page 18 of 23



EXHIBIT “F” 
COST-BENEFIT ANALYSIS 

PHASE I – LEGACY BEND REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

(Pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 18-2113) 

Cost Benefit Analysis Section 18-2113 of the Act, further requires the Agency conduct a cost 
benefit analysis of the plan  in the event that Tax Increment Financing will be used. This analysis 
must address specific statutory issues. 

As authorized in the Nebraska Community Development Law, §18-2147, Neb. Rev. Stat. (2012), 
the City of Norfolk, Nebraska has analyzed the costs and benefits of the proposed 
Redevelopment Project (Phase 1), including:  

Project Phase Sources and Uses. Approximately $ 1,870,818 in public funds from tax 
increment financing provided by the Norfolk Community Development Agency will be required 
to complete the project phase. This investment by the Agency will leverage $5,264,530 in private 
sector financing; a private investment of approximately $2.81 for every TIF dollar investment. 

Tax Revenue. The property to be redeveloped is anticipated to have a January 1, 2018, valuation 
of approximately $135,000. Based on the 2016 levy this would result in a real property tax of 
approximately $2,665. It’s anticipated that the assessed value will increase by $6,318,000 upon 

 Use of Funds 

Description TIF Funds Private Funds Total

Site Acquisition 225,000 0 225,000

Site Preparation  - Utilities/
Streets/Drainage

1,063,854 0 1,063,854

Legal/Accounting, Finance 106,731 50,000 156,731

Building Costs 0 5,088,600 5,088,600

Architecture Engineering 153,988 125,930 279,918

Planning, Development and 
Permitting

153,988 0 153,988

Contingencies 167,257 0 167,257

TOTALS 1,870,818 5,264,530 7,135,348

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 19 of 23



full completion, as a result of the site redevelopment. This development will result in an 
estimated tax increase of over $123,474 annually. The tax increment gained from this 
Redevelopment Project Area Phase 1 would not be available for use as city general tax revenues, 
for the period of the TIF contract or the time as may be required to amortize the TIF bond, but 
would be used for eligible redevelopment costs to enable this project to be realized. 

Estimated 2018 assessed value: $ 135,000 
Estimated value after completion $ 6,453,000 
Increment value $ 6,318,000 
Annual TIF generated (estimated) $ 123,474 
TIF bond issue $ 1,474,023 

(a) Tax shifts resulting from the approval of the use of Tax Increment Financing; 

The phase 1 redevelopment project area currently has an estimated valuation of $51,337. The 
proposed redevelopment will create additional valuation of $6,452,438. No tax shifts are 
anticipated from the project. The phase 1 project creates additional valuation that will support 
taxing entities long after the project is paid off. 

(b) Public infrastructure and community public service needs impacts and local tax impacts 
arising from the approval of the redevelopment project; 

No additional public service needs have been identified other than the public infrastructure to be 
constructed within the development. Existing water and waste water facilities will not be 
negatively impacted by this development. The electric utility has sufficient capacity to support 
the development.  Due to the residential nature of the improvements, this development may have 
an impact on Norfolk Public Schools. Fire and police protection are available and should not be 
negatively impacted by this development. 

(c) Impacts on employers and employees of firms locating or expanding within the boundaries 
of the area of the redevelopment project; 

The development will have minimal impact on employers or employees within the phase 1 
redevelopment project area. However, the development will increase housing availability in 
northeast Norfolk and may positively impact recruitment of employees for businesses located in 
this part of the community. 

(d) Impacts on other employers and employees within the city or village and the immediate 
area that are located outside of the boundaries of the area of the phase 1 redevelopment 
project; and 

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 20 of 23



This project will have a positive impact on other employees and employers within the Norfolk 
area by helping alleviate the existing housing shortage to provide housing for current and future 
employees of employers within the city and the immediate area. 

(e) Any other impacts determined by the agency to be relevant to the consideration of costs and 
benefits arising from the first phase of the redevelopment project. 

This first phase of the project will be a housing project in northeast Norfolk. It should encourage 
the development of additional retail in close proximity to the development and will be the 
catalyst for future phases. 

(f) Assessment districts and Infrastructure 

Assessment Districts will be formed to facilitate Water, Sewer, and Paving.  The developer will 
utilize TIF to repay the assessment.  The districts will be amortized over 10 years, and will be 
kept current by the developer.   

(g) But For 

With a total build cost over 7.1 million dollars and an estimated value of 6.4 million, this project 
would not be feasible except for the tax increment financing of almost $1.5 million dollars to 
offset the deficit gap and provide a reasonable rate of return.

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 21 of 23



EXHIBIT “G” 
STATUTORY ELEMENTS 

LEGACY BEND REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

A. Property Acquisition, Demolition and Disposal 

No public acquisition of private property or relocation of 
families or businesses is necessary to accomplish the Project. The 
Redeveloper is purchasing the Legacy Bend Project Site. 

B. Population Density 

It is anticipated that the proposed Project will include the 
construction of: 124 Single Family Homes on Larger Lots, 51 Single 
Family Homes on Urban Lots, 51 Townhomes, and 224 Living Units in 
Multiple Dwelling Units on the Legacy Bend Project Site, which will 
inherently increase population density in the area. The Project will be 
properly platted to accommodate the increase in population density. 

C. Land Coverage 

In a community building effort the area will consist of: 124 
Single Family Homes on Larger Lots, 51 Single Family Homes on 
Urban Lots, 51 Townhomes, and 224 Living Units in Multiple Dwelling 
Units on 80 acres of undeveloped land. The Project will comply with the 
applicable land-coverage ratios and zoning requirements of the City of 
Norfolk.  

D. Traffic Flow, Street Layouts and Street Grades 

It is anticipated that the Project will produce additional 
traffic as a result of residents travelling to and from the new 
homes constructed on the Project Site.  The City will construct new 
streets that will provide access to the Apartment buildings, townhomes, 
and single family units constructed on the Legacy Bend Project Site.  
Installation of the streets in phases, will allow constructing 
streets as needed to alleviate any congestion that might be 
created by the Project. 

E. Parking 

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 22 of 23



Parking lots will be constructed to serve the higher density living 
units, the lower density living units and recreational facilities included 
as part of the Project. The Project will meet or exceed the parking 
requirements set forth in the applicable zoning district.  

F. Zoning, Building Code and Ordinances 

In order for the Redeveloper to implement the Project in phases, 
the Redeveloper will subdivide the Legacy Bend Project Site. The CDA 
and the Redeveloper acknowledge that the Legacy Bend Project Site 
may be subdivided incrementally in connection with construction of 
each phase. Redeveloper shall be responsible for any zoning, building 
code, or ordinance changes that are necessary for the Project. The 
Project will necessitate the change of the zoning classification to single 
family and multiple family residential zones, such as R-2, R-3, and 
potentially a planned development under the City of Norfolk Zoning 
Ordinance.

11/20/2017 Enclosure 6
Page 23 of 23


	Cover Page
	Public Notice
	Agenda
	Staff Memo
	Enclosure 5
	Enclosure 6



